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Discrimination—City enacts ordinance that prohibits group homes in residential areas

Group home operators allege ordinance illegally discriminates against them
Citation: Pacific Shores Properties, LLC v. City of Newport Beach, 2013 WL 5289100 (9th Cir. 2013)

The Ninth Circuit has jurisdiction over Alaska, Arizona, California, Guam, Hawaii, Idaho, Montana, Nevada, Oregon and
Washington.

NINTH CIRCUIT (CALIFORNIA) (09/20/13)—This case addressed the issue of whether the only way a plaintiff (i.e., the
party bringing the lawsuit) in an antidiscrimination zoning case may survive summary judgment and bring the case to trial is
to identify similarly situated individuals who were treated better than themselves, or whether there are other ways they may
demonstrate that intentional discrimination has occurred, such as through direct or circumstantial evidence.

The Background/Facts: In 2008, the City of Newport Beach, California, (the “City”) enacted an ordinance (the “Ordinance”)
which had the practical effect of prohibiting new group homes from opening in most residential zones. Group homes are
facilities in which recovering alcoholics and drug users live communally and mutually support each other's recovery. Under
the Ordinance, even in the few areas where they were permitted to open, new group homes were required to submit to a permit
process. Existing group homes also had to undergo the same permit process in order to continue their operations.

Prior to the Ordinance's enactment, the City treated group homes as “single housekeeping units.” “Single housekeeping units”
were generally permitted to locate in all residential zones without any special permit. The Ordinance's “key innovation” was
to amend the definition of “single housekeeping unit” to exclude group homes. This was accomplished in two critical ways:
the amended definition added the requirements that (1) a single housekeeping unit must have a single, written lease; and (2)
the residents themselves must decide who will be a member of the household. As a result of those amendments, group homes
no longer qualified as “single housekeeping units” because the residents did not sign written leases and were chosen by staff
(instead of by each other) to ensure the maintenance of a sober environment. Instead, the Ordinance regulated group homes as
“residential care facilities” (i.e., facilities in which disabled individuals reside together but not as a “single housekeeping unit”).
As “residential care facilities,” group homes faced significant restrictions, including on location.

Three group homes operators, as well as several individuals, including a group home owner and former residents of a group
home (collectively, the “Group Homes”), sued the City. They alleged that the Ordinance discriminated against them as facilities
that provide housing opportunities for disabled individuals recovering from addiction. They alleged that the Ordinance was
discriminatory in violation of, among other things, the federal Fair Housing Act (“FHA”) and the Americans with Disabilities
Act (“ADA”).

The FHA renders it unlawful “[t]o discriminate in the sale or rental, or to otherwise make unavailable or deny, a dwelling to any
buyer or renter because of a handicap[.]” (42 U.S.C.A. § 3604(f)(1).) Persons recovering from drug and/or alcohol addiction are
considered disabled under the FHA and therefore protected from housing discrimination. (See 42 U.S.C.A. § 3602(h).) Group
homes such as the ones that were at issue here are “dwellings” under the FHA (42 U.S.C.A. § 3602(b)), and therefore the FHA
prohibits discriminatory actions that adversely affect the availability of such group homes. Moreover, it is well established
that zoning practices that discriminate against disabled individuals can be discriminatory, and therefore violate § 3604, if they
contribute to “mak[ing] unavailable or deny[ing]” housing to those persons.
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The ADA provides that “no qualified individual with a disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from
participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity, or be subjected to
discrimination by any such entity.” (42 U.S.C.A. § 12132.) Like the FHA, the ADA's protections extend to persons recovering
from drug or alcohol addiction. Also like the FHA, the ADA prohibits governmental entities from discriminating against
disabled persons through zoning.

The Group Homes presented evidence that showed that the City's purpose in enacting the Ordinance was to exclude group
homes from most residential districts and to bring about the closure of existing group homes in those areas. The evidence also
showed that the Ordinance regulated other types of group residential arrangements primarily for the purpose of maintaining
a “veneer of neutrality.” For example, while the Ordinance facially imposed restrictions on some other types of group living
arrangements as well, the City did not impose similar regulations on properties rented to vacationing tourists, which are similar
to group homes in regular turnover of occupants.

The district court acknowledged the evidence that the City acted with a discriminatory motive but found that evidence
“irrelevant” because, it stated, the City had not treated group homes any worse than certain other group living arrangements.
The court also found that the Group Homes failed to create a triable issue of fact as to whether the losses that they claimed their
businesses suffered were caused by the enactment or enforcement of the Ordinance. Finding there were no material issues of
fact in dispute, and deciding the matter on the law alone, the district court issued summary judgment in favor of the City.

The Group Homes appealed.

DECISION: Judgment of district court reversed and matter remanded.

The United States Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit, held that where, as here, in a zoning-related matter there is direct or
circumstantial evidence that the defendant (i.e., here the City) has acted with a discriminatory purpose and has caused harm
to members of a protected class (i.e., here “disabled” recovering addicts), such evidence is sufficient to permit the protected
individuals to proceed to trial under a disparate treatment theory.

In so holding, the court found that its cases “clearly establish that plaintiffs [(i.e., here the Group Homes)] who allege disparate
treatment under statutory anti-discrimination laws need not demonstrate the existence of a similarly situated entity who or which
was treated better than the plaintiffs in order to prevail.” Instead, said the court, the plaintiff may “simply produce direct or
circumstantial evidence demonstrating that a discriminatory reason more likely than not motivated” the defendant (i.e., here
the City) and that the defendant's actions adversely affected the plaintiff in some way.

The court further explained that having taken the latter “direct or circumstantial evidence” approach, the Group Homes' claim
would survive summary judgment and bring the issue to trial if they could show that the City's actions were motivated by a
discrimination through evidence of the following factors, among other potential factors: (1) “statistics demonstrating a ‘clear
pattern unexplainable on grounds other than’ discriminatory ones”; (2) “[t]he historical background of the decision”; (3) “[t]he
specific sequence of events leading up to the challenged decision”; (4) “the [City's] departures from its normal procedures or
substantive conclusions”; and (5) “relevant ‘legislative or administrative history.’ ”

The court found that the Group Homes did establish evidence of those factors. The court found that the Group Homes showed:
(1) the legislative history indicated that the Ordinance was enacted for the purpose of eliminating or reducing the number of
group homes throughout the City; (2) statistics, provided by the City, indicated the Ordinance had the effect of reducing group
home beds by 40%; and (3) evidence that group homes were specifically targeted for enforcement.

The court also held that the Group Homes created a triable issue of fact as to whether the losses that their businesses suffered
were caused by the enactment and enforcement of the Ordinance. The court acknowledged that the Group Homes had presented
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evidence that: they experienced a significant decline in business after the Ordinance's enactment; the publicity surrounding the
Ordinance greatly reduced referrals; and current and prospective residents expressed concern about whether the Group Homes
would close. Further, the court held that the costs borne by the Group Homes to present their permit applications and the costs
spent assuring the public that they were still operating despite the City's efforts to close them were compensable.

The court concluded that the Group Homes had created a triable issue of fact that the Ordinance was enacted in order to
discriminate against them on the basis of disability, and that its enactment and enforcement harmed them. The court reversed
the district court's dismissal of the Group Homes' claims and remanded the matter.

See also: Village of Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Housing Development Corp., 429 U.S. 252, 97 S. Ct. 555, 50 L. Ed.
2d 450 (1977).

See also: Hunter v. Underwood, 471 U.S. 222, 105 S. Ct. 1916, 85 L. Ed. 2d 222 (1985).

See also: The Committee Concerning Community Improvement v. City of Modesto, 583 F.3d 690, 703 (9th Cir. 2009).

Case Note:
In its decision, the court explained that the case “demonstrates why requiring anti-discrimination plaintiffs to prove the existence
of a better-treated equity would lead to unacceptable results”: “Plaintiffs in anti-discrimination suits would be unable to
demonstrate the discriminatory intent of a defendant that openly admitted its intent to discriminate, so long as the defendant (a)
relies on a facially neutral law or policy and (b) is willing to ‘overdiscriminate’ by enforcing the facially neutral law or policy
even against similarly-situated individuals who are not members of the disfavored group. Such a rule presents the ‘grotesque
scenario where a[ ] [defendant] can effectively immunize itself from suit if it is so thorough in its discrimination that all similarly
situated [entities] are victimized,’ ” said the court.
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